TITLE PAGE

INSTRUCTIONS: This application is for use in *criminal* appeals only. If you are appealing a Court of Appeals decision involving a civil action, use the form designed for that appeal type. Answer each question completely and add more pages if necessary.

**IN THE MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT
PRO PER CRIMINAL APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL**

I am appealing a Court of Appeals decision that affirmed my conviction(s) and sentence(s) in whole or in part, affirmed the trial court's denial of my motion for relief from judgment, or denied my application for leave to appeal in that court.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

Supreme Court No. _____
(Leave blank)

v

STATEMENT OF QUESTION PRESENTED

WERE THE DEFENDANT'S STATE AND FEDERAL RIGHTS TO DUE
PROCESS OF LAW VIOLATED WHEN THE COURT INFORMED
THE JURY OF THE EXISTENCE, NATURE AND RESULT OF A
SUPPRESSION HEARING CONCERNING THE ADMISSIBILITY
OF ALLEGED STATEMENT?

The Defendant answer: **Yes**

The Prosecutor answer: **NO**

ISSUE II

DEFENDANT'S STATE AND FEDERAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS WERE VIOLATED DEPRIVING DEFENDANT OF A FAIR TRIAL, WHEN THE COURT INFORMED THE JURY OF THE EXISTENCE, NATURE AND RESULTS OF A PRE-TRIAL SUPPRESSION HEARING CONCERNING THE ADMISSIBILITY OF AN ALLEGED STATEMENT, REQUIRING REVERSAL OF DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appropriate standard of review for this issue is clearly erroneous for an abuse of discretion, as the error complained of is one concerning the Court of Appeals general conduct of trial decision. In re King, 186 Mich. App. 458, 466; 465 NW.2d 1 (1990).

THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION WAS IN ERROR

AND AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION

The Michigan Supreme Court has determined that when it becomes apparent that the reasoning of an opinion is erroneous, it become the duty of the court to correct it. People v. Lukity, 460 Mich. 484; 596 N.W.2d 607 (1999). The Court of Appeals in its September 12th decision states that "the trial court properly instructed the jury that its rulings and conduct were not evidence, that the jury must disregard any opinion it believed the judge might have." See People v. Pierson, 2017 Mich. App. LEXIS 1428. Although this instruction was made it does not take way from the improper impinging upon the province of the jury by supplying the existence, nature and results of the defendant pre-trial Walker Hearing. Nor did the court's instruction stop the defendant from being hindered from meaningfully familiarizing the jury with the circumstances that attended the taking of his alleged statement/confession.

A defendant is free to familiarize a jury with circumstance that attended the taking of his confession, including facts being upon its weight and voluntariness. In like measure, of course, juries are at liberty to

disregard confessions that are insufficiently corroborated or otherwise deemed unworthy of belief. Lego v. Twomey 404 U.S. 477; 92 Sct 619; 30 L.Ed.2d 618 (1972). The defendant's ability to challenge not only the alleged confession, but also the circumstance of it were crippled if not killed altogether by the court when on recross examination, defense counsel attempted to ask the officer about the alleged statement and mentioned the court's comments informing the jury of the existence, nature and result of the defendant's pre-trial hearing the court stated, "You know what, that doesn't matter either. So go head." A properly preserved error that crippled the defendant's ability to challenge a confession cannot, be deemed harmless. People v. Gibert, 55 Mich. App. 168; 222 N.W.2d 305 (1974).

The instruction to the jury by the court did not remedy the damage that was done to the defendant by this error. A confession is like no other evidence. It is probably the most probative and damaging evidence that can be admitted against a defendant. Certainly, confession have profound impact on the jury, so much so that the courts may justifiably doubt its ability to put them out of mind even if told to do so. Bruton v. U.S., 391 U.S. 123, 129; 20 L.Ed.2d 476; 89 Sct 1620 (1968). The naive assumption that prejudicial effects can be overcome by instructions to the jury, all practicing lawyers know to be unmitigated fiction. Ariz v. Folminate, 499 U.S. 279; 111 Sct 1246; 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991). Here damage to the defendant was so severe that there exists a justifiable doubt to the jury's ability to put the court's comments out of their mind and heed the instruction given.

In the instant case the proceedings were influenced and the jury prejudiced against the defendant by the court's comments informing the jury of the existence, nature and results of the defendant's pre-trial

hearing. The Court of Appeals in its decision even states that "any further efforts by counsel would have been futile or counterproductive." This action of the court made it highly unlikely that the jury would ever decide that the alleged statement/confession was never made to police, and unfairly discounted the credibility of the defendant's impeachment evidence. See Peopel v. Williams, 46 Mich. App. 165; 207 N.W.2d 480 (1973). Indeed a confession in which the defendant disclose the motive for and means of the crime is so powerful that the jury might rely on it alone in convicting. Fields v. Birkett, 461 Fed. Appx. 454; 2012 U.S. App. LEXIS 2663 (6th Cir.).

Next the Court of Appeals in its decision states that "ample evidence was properly admitted establishing both the content of defendant's statement and the fact that he had not been advised of his "MIRANDA RIGHTS" when he allegedly made it." This assertion is false. No evidence was ever presented of the alleged statement to police, only the officer's assertion.

Michigan Rules of Evidence #1002 provides: To prove the content of a statement, the original is required. Michigan Rules of Evidence #801(a) provides: Statement means a person's oral assertion, written assertion, or now verbal conduct if the person intended it as an assertion. Only written statements that have been signed or otherwise adopted or approved by the person who made them, MCR 2.302(B)(3)(c)(i) qualify as statements. People v. Holtzman, 234 Mich. App. 166; 593 N.W.2d 617 (1999). The Sixth Circuit has held that signed confessions not suppressed, provide evidence of a defendant's guilt. U.S. v. Redditt, 87 Fed. Appx LEXIS 10317 (6th Cir.). Nowhere on the record is there any actual evidence provided of a statement made by the defendant.

The testimony of the officer claiming that the defendant made a statement to him was not corroborated by any evidence. The word "evidence"

as used in charge to jury is broader than the word "testimony" and includes exhibits, while testimony does not include them. Worland v. McGill, 26 Ohio. App. 442; 160 N.E. 478 (6th Cir.). Any inferences made by the prosecution must be warranted by the evidence. U.S. v. Young, 470 U.S. 1; 105 Sct 1038; 84 L.Ed.2d 1 (1985). It is hard to believe that the prosecution would not enter into evidence a confession made by the defendant, to a police officer if there was such a statement available.

The Court of Appeals also confirms the fact that the defendant "had not been advised of his "MIRANDA RIGHTS." A defendant's constitutional rights have been violated if his conviction is based in whole or in part, on an involuntary confession, regardless of its truth or falsity. This is even so if there is ample evidence aside from the confession to support the conviction. Miranda v. Arizona 384 U.S. 436; 86 Sct 1602; 16 L.Ed.2d 692 (1966). Whether his conviction was in federal or state court, the defendant may secure a post-conviction hearing based on the alleged involuntary character of his confession. Miranda, supra. Indeed, the alleged statement/confession should have never been admitted due to the fact that he had not been advised of his Miranda Rights. Miranda, supra.

Error in criminal proceedings is harmless only if there is no reasonable probability that the error may have contributed to the accused's conviction. See Nevers v. Killinges, 990 F.Supp. 844; 1997 U.S. Dist LEXIS 21146 (6th Cir.). Merely finding that the jury reached the right result doesn't mean preserved error is harmless. Mich. Evid. Court Room Manual (Pg 11).

The defendant assert that the comments made by the court to the jury informing them of the existence, nature and results of the defendant's pre-trial hearing had a substantial and injurious effect or influence

in determining the jury's verdict, and therefore not harmless. See Fleming v. Metrish, 556 F.3d 520; 2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 3761 (6th Cir.).

The Court of Appeals decision declaring the error to be harmless was in error and was an abuse of discretion. Therefore the defendant's conviction should be reversed and a new trial granted.

SUMMARY AND RELIEF

WHEREFORE, for the forgoing reasons, Defendant-Appellant moves that this Honorable Court vacate his conviction and sentence, and remand this case for a new trial.

Respectfully submitted,



Defendant-Appellant, In Pro Per
Thumb Corr. Facility
3225 John Conley Dr.
Lapeer, MI 48446

Dated: 11 - 1, 2017

**NOTICE OF FILING APPLICATION
IN THE MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT**

(Mail 1 copy to the Court of Appeals and 1 copy to the trial court)

11-1-17

(Today's Date)

Check the boxes to verify that copies were sent to the Court of Appeals and trial court.

Michigan Court of Appeals

Clerk's Office
Hall of Justice
P.O. Box 30022
Lansing, MI 48909

Washtenaw County Trial Court (Name of Trial Court)

101 E. Huron (Trial Court Address)

P.O. Box 8645

Ann Arbor, MI 48107

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN v Raymond C. Pierson

(Print your name)

Court of Appeals No. 332500

(You can get this number from the Court of Appeals decision)

Trial Court No. 10-1241-FH

(You can get this number from the Court of Appeals decision or the PSIR)

Dear Clerk:

On this date I have filed an application for leave to appeal with the Michigan Supreme Court in the above-captioned matter.

Raymond C. Pierson

(Sign your name)

Raymond C. Pierson # 370457

(Print your name and, if incarcerated, your MDOC number)

Thumb Correctional Facility

(Print name of correctional facility, if applicable)

3225 John Cowley Drive

(Print your address or address of correctional facility)

Lapeer, MI 48446



IN THE MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

Supreme Court No. _____
(Leave blank)

Court of Appeals No. 332500
(See Court of Appeals decision)

v
Raymond C. Pierson
(Print your name)

Trial Court No. 10-1241-FJ
(See Court of Appeals brief or PSIR.)

Defendant-Appellant.

MOTION TO WAIVE FEES

For the reasons stated in the affidavit of indigency below, I request that this Court GRANT a waiver pursuant to MCR 7.319(C) of all fees required for filing the attached pleading because I am indigent and the provisions of MCL 600.2963 requiring prisoners to pay filing fees do not apply to appeals from a decision involving a criminal conviction.

November 1, 2017
(Date)

Raymond C. Pierson
(Sign your name)
Raymond C. Pierson # 370457
(Print your name and, if incarcerated, MDOC number)