**State of Michigan
In the Supreme Court**

People of the State of Michigan,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

Supreme Court No. 156720

v

Court of Appeals No. 332500

Raymond Charles Pierson,
Defendant-Appellant.

Circuit Court No. 10-1241 FH

Brian L. Mackie (P25745)
Washtenaw County Prosecutor
Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellee
P.O. Box 8645
Ann Arbor, MI 48107-8645
(734) 222-6620

Raymond Charles Pierson (Inmate No. 370457)
Defendant in pro per
Thumb Correctional Facility
3225 John Conley Drive
Lapeer, Michigan 48446

**Plaintiff-Appellee's Answer to
Defendant-Appellant's Application for Leave to Appeal**

Brian L. Mackie (P25745)
Washtenaw County Prosecutor

By: Mark Kneisel (P49034)

Counterstatement of Material Proceedings and Facts

In the early morning of July 25, 2010 Officer Sean Urban was patrolling an apartment complex when he overheard a commotion. He investigated, finding two men, Defendant Raymond Pierson and the victim Corey Taylor, struggling over an AK-47 assault rifle. The officer approached, giving verbal commands for the two to stop.³ After the gun was thrown to the ground and the two separated, the victim remained on the ground with his hands up; Defendant walked away, ignoring the officer's commands. When Defendant attempted to evade capture, Officer Urban pursued and tased Defendant, eventually capturing and handcuffing him.⁴

As Officer Urban walked him over to a squad car, Defendant made an unsolicited statement, saying "I broke into his house but the guy had the gun."⁵ Officer Urban had neither begun questioning Defendant nor given Defendant his *Miranda* warnings. Defendant was placed in the custody of Deputy Sheriff Daniel Buffa and given his *Miranda* warnings, which he voluntarily waived.⁶ When the sheriff asked him to describe what happened, Defendant admitted that a friend dropped him off near the complex and that he intended to break into the victim's apartment. He told the deputy that when he opened the screen door and poked his head in, he did not see anyone, so he proceeded inside and saw the victim holding the AK-47.⁷ Defendant claimed the victim attacked him.

³ Jury Trial Transcript; Volume I; 1/30/12; pp 233-36.

⁴ Trial-I; 1/30/12; pp 238-43.

⁵ Trial-I; 1/30/12; pp 243-44.

⁶ Trial-II; 1/31/12; pp 40-42; at trial, Deputy Sheriff Buffa testified that there was no recording of his and Defendant's conversation because, prior to receiving the dispatch from Officer Urban, the deputy's shift had ended and he had already removed the video equipment from his car.

⁷ Trial-II; 1/31/12; pp 42-44.

Deputy Sheriff Buffa exited the car and conferred with other officers at the scene who had discovered a car near the victim's apartment registered to Defendant's mother, Patricia Pierson. The officers also found a bag on the passenger's seat containing two magazines of ammunition with bullets matching the caliber of the AK-47.⁸ The deputy reentered the squad car and told Defendant about the car and the bag.⁹ In response, Defendant offered a new version of events. Defendant told the deputy that an ex-girlfriend of the victim told him the victim was a drug dealer who kept a large amount of money stashed in his apartment. Defendant admitted that, based on this information, he entered the victim's apartment with the AK-47, and the fight began after the victim saw him. He stated that he went to the apartment to rob the victim and that he needed the gun to commit the burglary because "you see how shit can get bad."¹⁰ Deputy Sheriff Buffa ended the conversation and gave custody of Defendant over to another deputy.

Defendant was interviewed again 12 hours later at the Washtenaw County Jail. During that interview by Detective Grant Toth, Defendant gave a wholly different account of the incident.¹¹ He claimed the victim called him at 3:00 a.m. asking for a ride to the store because one of the headlights on his car was out.¹² Defendant claimed that when he arrived at the apartment, the victim came outside without a shirt on and placed the bag on the passenger's seat. Defendant told the deputy that,

⁸ Trial-I; 1/30/12; pp 244-52.

⁹ Trial-II; 1/31/12; pp 46-47.

¹⁰ Trial-II; 1/31/12; pp 48-49.

¹¹ Trial-II; 1/31/12; pp 74, 81, 83; Defendant was given his *Miranda* rights and waived these rights for a second time prior to Detective Toth's interview of Defendant.

¹² Trial-II; 1/31/12; p 94; the victim's car was eventually seized; both headlights were functioning.

after the victim went back inside to put on a shirt, he looked inside the bag and became angry when he found the AK-47 inside. Defendant claimed it was at this point that he took the gun, exited the car, went to the apartment, and began fighting with the victim.¹³

Defendant was charged with First Degree Home Invasion, Felon in Possession of a Firearm, Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a Felony, Second Offense, and Resisting and Obstructing a Police Officer.¹⁴ On November 11, 2011, Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress all statements made after he was apprehended, except the statement given to Detective Toth. After a two-part evidentiary hearing, the trial court ruled that the statements were admissible.

At trial, during re-direct examination of Officer Urban, the Prosecution asked the officer to describe the circumstances surrounding Defendant's statement "I broke into his house but the guy had the gun," and when Defendant was read his *Miranda* rights. The trial court stopped the Prosecution's questioning, stating "[t]he Court already held a hearing on this matter and I have ruled that the defendant was properly advised of his rights and that the statements that have been introduced are admissible."¹⁵ Defense counsel objected, to which the court responded, "[f]ine. Go ahead. It's true. Have a seat."¹⁶ During re-cross examination, defense counsel asked Officer Urban about the statement and mentioned the court's remark about its admissibility, to which the officer replied "[t]he Judge said it. I

¹³ Trial-II; 1/31/12; pp 85-91.

¹⁴ Trial-I; 1/30/12; pp 172-74.

¹⁵ Trial-II; 1/31/12; p 28.

¹⁶ Trial-II; 1/31/12; pp 29-30.

don't know if I appreciate it." The trial court cut off defense counsel's follow-up question, saying "[y]ou know what, that doesn't matter either. So go ahead."¹⁷

Several witnesses testified against Defendant at trial, including Officer Urban, Deputy Buffa, Detective Toth, Cassandra Jackson—an eye-witness to the offenses, and Ronald Chambers—a security guard at the apartment complex. Inculpatory evidence presented at trial included: photographs of the scene, the AK-47, the black bag containing AK-47 ammunition, the ammunition itself, and gun magazines.¹⁸ At the end of trial, Defendant was convicted of all four offenses and sentenced on March 13, 2012 as a Fourth Habitual Offender.¹⁹

Defendant submitted an appeal of right to the Court of Appeals and his convictions were affirmed (Docket No. 309315). This Court subsequently denied leave to appeal. Defendant then submitted a seven-issue Motion for Relief from Judgment to the trial court. After that motion was denied, Defendant submitted a Motion for Reconsideration, which was also denied. Defendant requested leave to appeal from the Court of Appeals; leave was only granted for Issue II.²⁰ The Court of Appeals issued a Lead Opinion, affirming Defendant's conviction, a concurring opinion, and a partially concurring, partially dissenting opinion. Defendant filed an Application for Leave to Appeal to this Court on November 7, 2017.

The People will present additional facts as they relate to the issue in the Argument section of this Brief.

¹⁷ Trial–II; 1/31/12; p 29.

¹⁸ Trial–I; 1/30/12; pp 254-57.

¹⁹ Sentencing Transcript; 3/13/12; pp 13-15.

²⁰ *Pierson*, ___ Mich App at ___; slip op at 1.

Argument

I. An eyewitness saw Defendant entering the victim's apartment armed with an AK-47. A bag containing AK-47 ammunition was discovered in Defendant's mother's car parked near the apartment. At trial, the court merely mentioned the admissibility of Defendant's statements made at the scene, not whether they were made voluntarily. The court's comments had little to no effect on the outcome of the trial. Defendant's due process rights were not violated and he received a fair trial.

Standard of Review

The question of whether a defendant's due process right to a fair trial has been violated is one of constitutional law reviewed *de novo*.²¹

Discussion

A trial court is given wide latitude and power in overseeing the matter of trial conduct.²² In review for error, a court should consider the record as a whole to avoid finding judicial bias within out-of-context statements.²³ A trial court is in error, and a defendant is denied a fair and impartial trial, when the court's "conduct or comments unduly influence the jury..."²⁴ While it is error for a trial court to inform the jury that it had already determined a defendant's confession to be voluntary, such comments may not warrant reversal.²⁵ Here, Defendant argues that he was deprived a fair and impartial trial when the trial court mentioned the admissibility of his statements to police. This argument is misguided.

²¹ *People v LeBlanc*, 465 Mich 575, 579; 640 NW2d 246 (2002).

²² *People v Paquette*, 214 Mich App 336, 340; 543 NW2d 342 (1995).

²³ *Paquette*, 214 Mich at 340.

²⁴ *Paquette*, 214 Mich at 340.

²⁵ *People v Gilbert*, 55 Mich App 168, 171-73; 222 NW2d 305 (1974); *People v Corbett*, 97 Mich App 438, 442; 296 NW2d 64 (1980).

One of the many roles of a trial court is determining the admissibility of evidence. Once admissibility has been determined, it is the role of the jury to consider the evidence as a whole and determine its weight and credibility. A trial court's comments create reversible error only when they put the role of the jury in question, forcing the jury to side with or against the court. Trial courts are prevented from mentioning the voluntariness of a statement because doing so leaves the jury wondering what is being asked of them.²⁶ A trial court's statement informing the jury that a defendant's statement was ruled admissible "merely place[s] the statement on an equal footing with all other admitted evidence."²⁷

In this case, the court stated that it had "held a hearing on this matter and ... ruled that the defendant was properly advised of his rights and that the statements that have been introduced are admissible."²⁸ Because there was no mention of whether the statement was voluntarily made, the court did not usurp the jury's role in determining the weight and credibility of the statement. The jury was merely told that, like all the other evidence offered at trial, it could consider the Defendant's statements and the context in which they were given, to decide whether they were voluntarily made or not. Further, the court's statement was made during an attempt to cut off the Prosecution's re-direct examination. If anything, the jury witnessed the court intervene against the Prosecution's presentation, leaving the jury in a position to side in favor of Defendant.

²⁶ *People v Mathis*, 75 Mich App 320, 324; 255 NW2d 214 (1977).

²⁷ *Gilbert*, 55 Mich App at 172.

²⁸ Trial-II; 1/31/12; p 28.

Defendant argues that he was prevented from familiarizing the jury with the circumstances surrounding the taking of his statements when the court prevented defense counsel's attempts to further explore the circumstances under which Defendant was advised of his *Miranda* rights. The trial court's limitation of defense counsel's questioning, however, in no way prevented Defendant from challenging the credibility of the officer or whether Defendant's statement was actually made.²⁹ Defense counsel's overall line of questioning called Officer Urban's testimony into question on various points, including whether the Defendant felt intimidated by the officer at the time he made the statement and whether the officer had properly reported the events at the scene.³⁰ Additionally, when the court stopped defense counsel's questioning, the officer responded, stating that he did not appreciate the court's previous comment about the admissibility of Defendant's statement, once again cutting against the impact of the court's comments.

Even if the trial court's statements were made in error, they did not prejudice the Defendant so as to deprive him of a fair and impartial trial. The court's instructions to the jury at both the beginning and end of trial, coupled with the weight of the evidence against Defendant minimized any negative affect of the court's statements.

At the beginning of trial, the court read preliminary jury instructions, including that the jury could only base its decision on the evidence in the case, not the

²⁹ *Gilbert*, 55 Mich App at 172.

³⁰ Trial-I; 1/30/12; pp 262-67.

arguments or opening or closing statements of the attorneys.³¹ The court further instructed that it is the role of the court to make decisions as to evidence and to applicable law. The jury was also informed that it must only make its decision based on admitted evidence and that its role is to decide the facts of the case and which witnesses and testimony to believe.³² The court also instructed that it is the court's role to rule on objections according to the law and that the court's ruling for one side or the other did not reflect the opinion of the court in relation to the facts.³³ The court asked, and the jury agreed, that it would abide by the instructions given.³⁴ At the close of trial, the judge instructed the jury that the rulings and comments of the court were not evidence, that the jury must disregard any opinion it believed the judge might have, and that the jury was the sole judge of the facts.³⁵ The jury instructions, as a whole, were enough to overcome any prejudice to Defendant.

Moreover, a jury is presumed to follow the instructions of the trial court,³⁶ “unless there is an overwhelming probability that the jury will be unable to follow the court's instructions, and a strong likelihood that the effect of the evidence would be devastating to defendant.”³⁷ The weight of the evidence, coupled with the above jury instructions, was enough to overcome any prejudice instilled by the court's comments. An eyewitness saw Defendant enter the victim's apartment holding an

³¹ Trial-I; 1/30/12; pp 163-64.

³² Trial-I; 1/30/12; pp 165-66.

³³ Trial-I; 1/30/12; p 167.

³⁴ Trial-I; 1/30/12; p 171.

³⁵ *Pierson*, ___ Mich App at ___; slip op at 2.

³⁶ *People v Stevens*, 498 Mich 162, 177; 869 NW2d 233 (2015).

³⁷ *People v Dennis*, 464 Mich 567, 581; 628 NW2d 502 (2001).

AK-47 and identified him as the perpetrator in open court.³⁸ The arresting officer testified to seeing the victim and Defendant wrestling for the gun and the Defendant's refusal to cooperate after the fight ended.³⁹ The officer also testified that the victim remained on the ground with his hands up while Defendant attempted to evade capture, running between cars, pretending to cooperate, and eventually trying to make a run for it.⁴⁰

Photographs of the scene were offered into evidence, including pictures of the gun on the ground. Evidence was admitted of the car registered in Defendant's mother's name sitting near the crime scene, along with pictures of the bag containing AK-47 ammunition found in the passenger's seat of Defendant's mother's car.⁴¹ There was ample evidence admitted relating to the content of Defendant's statement and the fact that he had not been advised of his *Miranda* rights when the statement was made. Finally, defense counsel's closing argument brought the testimony of the witnesses into question, specifically the credibility of the police in relation to the trustworthiness of their reports.

Considering the context of the trial as a whole, including the jury instructions, evidence, and the examination of witnesses, Defendant was not deprived of a fair trial by the comments of the court. What little effect the court's comments may have had imparted harmless error into the trial, not reversible error. Defendant's Application for Leave to Appeal, therefore, should be denied.

³⁸ Trial-I; 1/30/12; p 189.

³⁹ Trial-I; 1/30/12; pp 235-36.

⁴⁰ Trial-I; 1/30/12; pp 239-42.

⁴¹ Trial-I; 1/30/12; pp 245, 247-57.

Relief Sought

Plaintiff-Appellee, the People of the State of Michigan, respectfully request that this Court deny Defendant-Appellant's Application for Leave to Appeal.

Respectfully submitted,

Brian L. Mackie (P25745)
Washtenaw County Prosecutor

By: /s/ Mark Kneisel
Mark Kneisel (P49034)
First Assistant Prosecutor
P.O. Box 8645
Ann Arbor, MI 48107
(734) 222-6620

and Veronica Prange
Student Intern

Date: November 29, 2017